## THE COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION I OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON NO. 68522-8-1

### MADERA WEST CONDOMINIUM OWNERS ASSOCIATION, et al.,

Respondents,

٧.

### I. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR AND STATEMENT OF ISSUES

### A. Assignment of Errors

- 1. The trial court erred in entering its order dated March 12, 2012, denying Marx/Okubo's motion for entry of an award of prevailing party attorney's fees pursuant to RCW §4.84.330.
- 2. The trial court erred in entering its order dated March 12, 2012, denying Marx/Okubo's motion for an award of sanctions under Civil Rule 11.
- 3. The trial court erred in entering its order dated March 12, 2012, denying Marx/Okubo's motion for an award of sanctions under Civil Rule 26(g).

### B. Issues Pertaining to Assignments of Error

by Marx/Okubo under a contract plaintiffs were not signatory to. The contract contained a prevailing party attorney's fees provision. The trial court dismissed all of plaintiffs' claims against Marx/Okubo. Under the circumstances presented, is Marx/Okubo entitled to a prevailing party attorney's fee award pursuant to RCW §4.84.330, the doctrine of equitable estoppel and the provisions of the contract plaintiffs sought to enforce? (Assignment of Error No. 1)

- 2. Should CR 11 sanctions be imposed on plaintiffs who knowingly assert claims which their prior testimony established to be unprovable? (Assignment of Error No. 2)
- 3. Should CR 26(g) sanctions be imposed on plaintiffs who provide false responses to written discovery requests?

  (Assignment of Error No. 3)

#### II. INTRODUCTION

This litigation arises out of the conversion of the Forest Village Apartments into the Madera West Condominiums. The owners association and 56 individual plaintiffs sought damages from the project developer and its real estate agent alleging they failed to disclose known construction deficiencies and misrepresented the amount of funds deposited in a reserve account. Plaintiffs also claimed Marx/Okubo made negligent misrepresentations in a Property Condition Assessment and Reserve Study prepared for a predecessor owner.

The trial court dismissed all claims against Marx/Okubo. Marx/Okubo sought an award of prevailing party attorney's fees pursuant to the terms of the agreement plaintiffs claimed Marx/Okubo negligently performed. Marx/Okubo also sought terms against certain plaintiffs for violating Civil Rule 11 and Civil Rule 26(g). The trial court denied Marx/Okubo's requests for fees and terms, but certified

its dismissal of the claims against Marx/Okubo as final pursuant to Civil Rule 54(b).

Marx/Okubo is entitled to an award of prevailing party attorney's fees. Although plaintiffs were not in privity with Marx/Okubo, their claims arose out of Marx/Okubo's alleged inadequacy of performance under a contract containing a prevailing party attorney's fees provision. It is undisputed the only duties Marx/Okubo owed with respect to the project arose out of the written agreement. Because the duties undertaken by Marx/Okubo upon which plaintiffs' claims were premised arose solely out of Marx/Okubo's contract, plaintiffs' lawsuit was "an action on a contract" within the scope of RCW §4.84.330, and Marx/Okubo is entitled to recover its attorney's fees pursuant to the prevailing party attorney's fees provision contained in the agreement. Alternatively, because plaintiffs sought to take advantage of warranties made by Marx/Okubo in its contract, plaintiffs should be equitably estopped from denying that the contractual attorney's fees provisions apply to them.

CR 11 sanctions should have been imposed on those plaintiffs who knowingly asserted meritless claims. Prior to filing their Third Amended Complaint asserting negligent misrepresentation claims against Marx/Okubo, a number of plaintiffs testified they did not rely upon Marx/Okubo's Property Condition Assessment and/or Reserve

Study. Reliance on a false statement of existing fact is an essential element of a negligent misrepresentation claim. These plaintiffs knew prior to filing their Third Amended Complaint they could not establish at least one of the essential elements of their negligent misrepresentation claims. Sanctions under CR 11 should have been imposed because these plaintiffs asserted negligent misrepresentation claims after their testimony established the claims were meritless.

CR 26(g) sanctions should have been imposed on plaintiffs who provided false responses to discovery requests. A number of plaintiffs testified in responses to written discovery requests they had relied upon Marx/Okubo's Property Condition Assessment and Reserve Study, then recanted their testimony in depositions. The plaintiffs providing false testimony should bear the costs of the depositions required to investigate their false statements and obtain truthful answers to discovery from those plaintiffs.

### III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. <u>Marx/Okubo's Property Condition Assessment Was</u>

Prepared for Use by Real Estate Development Professionals in

Negotiating a Purchase.

In January of 2005, Marx/Okubo submitted to A.F. Evans Development, Inc. a proposal to perform a pre-purchase Property Condition Assessment with respect to the Forest Village Apartments.

The primary purpose of the assessment was to provide Evans Development with information to assist it in negotiating the purchase of the apartment complex. (CP 116-17, CP 119-31) Evans Development accepted Marx/Okubo's proposal by authorizing Marx/Okubo to proceed, and the documents became the contract between the parties. (CP 117, CP 132-5)

# B. <u>Marx/Okubo's Contract Limited the Scope of Its Services and Its Potential Liability and Contained a Prevailing Party</u> Attorney's Fees Provision.

Marx/Okubo's scope of work was defined in its proposal as follows:

Marx/Okubo's analysis will consist of one non-invasive site observation which will include accessible areas of the site, building exterior walls, roofs, common areas and 20% of the apartment units and representative attics and crawlspaces, if access is made available.

### (CP 119. Emphasis added.)

Marx/Okubo's proposal incorporated Marx/Okubo's Standard Terms and Conditions. (CP 126) The Standard Terms and Conditions strictly limited use of Marx/Okubo's reports by third parties and prohibited Evans Development from distributing the reports to others. The Terms and Conditions provided as follows:

These documents . . . may not be reproduced in advertising, brochures, or sales materials, or used by the Client for any purpose other than for which they were prepared, nor may they be used for any purpose by third parties, without the written permission of Marx/Okubo.

(CP 129) Marx/Okubo gave no permission to expand uses of the reports. (CP 118, CP 225-6)

Marx/Okubo's standard Terms and Conditions contained the following prevailing party attorney's fees provision:

The substantially prevailing party in any arbitration, or other final binding dispute proceeding upon which the parties may agree, shall be entitled to recover from the other party all costs and expenses incurred by that party in participating in the arbitration, including reasonable attorneys' fees.

(CP 131)

### C. <u>Marx/Okubo's Property Condition Assessment Explained</u> Its Limited Scope and the Limitations on Its Use.

In April of 2005 Marx/Okubo issued its Property Condition Assessment to Evans Development. The report noted that only Marx/Okubo's client was entitled to use the report:

The sole purpose of this report is to observe the major aspects of the property and evaluate their condition. The use of this report is limited to the client to whom it is addressed. This report is intended to provide the basis for a statement by A.F. Evans Development, Inc., the "declarant," as described in RCW 64.34.415.

(CP 140)

# D. The Trial Court Dismissed All Claims Against Marx/Okubo, But Denied Marx/Okubo's Requests for Prevailing Party Attorney's Fees, CR 11 Sanctions and CR 26(g) Sanctions.

Marx/Okubo moved for summary judgment. It sought dismissal of plaintiffs' claims on three grounds: (a) plaintiffs were not within the limited class entitled to bring a negligent misrepresentation claim; (b) plaintiffs failed to establish that Marx/Okubo made a false statement of existing fact, an essential element of a negligent misrepresentation claim; and, (c) plaintiffs failed to establish Marx/Okubo owed an independent tort duty to them. (CP)

In opposition to Marx/Okubo's motion, plaintiffs cited to standard of care provisions included in Marx/Okubo's contract with Evans Development to support their claims. Plaintiffs argued as follows:

The only relevant part of the standard terms here, is Okubo's warranty that "[it would] perform its services for [Evans] within the accepted practices and procedures and [would] exercise that degree of care and skill ordinarily exercised under similar circumstances by members of its profession." (Id.) In other words, Okubo warranted that it would not be negligent in carrying out the work in its proposal.... Its proposal was to provide Evans a fair assessment of the property so that Evans could, through Madera West, LLC,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Marx/Okubo's Motion for Summary Judgment was included in the Clerk's Papers by supplemental Designation of Clerk's Papers filed on June 1, 2012. Clerk's Papers page numbers have not yet been assigned to the document. The cited reference is to pages 1-2 of the document.

provide at least a reasonable disclosure on the condition of the property to unit owners.

(CP \_\_\_\_)<sup>2</sup> The trial court rejected plaintiffs' effort to enforce Marx/Okubo's performance warranty and granted Marx/Okubo's motion. (CP 447-9; see also CP 450-2)

Marx/Okubo filed a motion seeking an award of prevailing party attorney's fees and sanctions pursuant to Civil Rule 11 and Civil Rule 26(g). (CP 453-75) Marx/Okubo also sought certification of the judgment of dismissal as final pursuant to Civil Rule 54(b). The trial court denied Marx/Okubo's request for fees and sanctions but granted its motion for CR 54(b) certification. (CP 874-9, CP 881-3)

### IV. ARGUMENT

A. <u>Plaintiffs' Claims Against Marx/Okubo Were Premised</u>

<u>Upon Duties Arising Out of a Contract Containing a Prevailing Party</u>

<u>Attorney's Fees Provision. Marx/Okubo Prevailed on the Claims and</u>

<u>Is Entitled to an Award of Prevailing Party Attorney's Fees Pursuant</u>

<u>to RCW §4.84.330 and the Doctrine of Equitable Estoppel.</u>

Neither Madera West nor any of the individual plaintiffs had a relationship with Marx/Okubo; nevertheless, they sought to obtain benefits and enforced obligations arising out of a contract

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Plaintiffs' Opposition to Marx/Okubo's Plaintiffs' [sic] Motion [for] Summary Judgment was included in the Clerk's Papers by supplemental Designation of Clerk's Papers filed on June 1, 2012. Clerk's Papers page numbers have not yet been assigned to the document. The cited reference is to page 5 of the document.

Marx/Okubo entered with a third party, Evans Development. Had Evans Development pursued claims similar to those asserted by plaintiffs and lost, Evans Development would be liable to Marx/Okubo under the prevailing party attorney's fees provision contained in the contract. Under RCW 4.84.330 and the doctrine of equitable estoppel plaintiffs are liable for attorney's fees incurred by Marx/Okubo in defeating plaintiffs' claims.

Appellate courts review de novo trial court determinations of whether or not grounds exist for an award of attorney's fees. Ethridge v. Hwang, 105 Wn. App. 447, 460, 20 P.3d 958 (2001) ("Whether a party is entitled to attorney's fees is an issue of law which is reviewed de novo."). Therefore, this Court's review of the trial court decision is de novo.

### 1. Marx/Okubo is entitled to attorney's fees under RCW §4.84.330.

Plaintiffs' tort claims against Marx/Okubo were premised upon the alleged inadequacy of services Marx/Okubo performed under a contract with Evans Development. The only duties Marx/Okubo had with respect to the Madera West project arose out of its agreement with Evans Development, which contained a prevailing party attorney's fees provision. Because the duties undertaken by Marx/Okubo upon which plaintiffs' claims were premised arose solely out of Marx/Okubo's contract with Evans Development, plaintiffs' lawsuit was "an action on a contract" within the scope of RCW §4.84.330, and Marx/Okubo is entitled to recover its attorney's fees under the prevailing party attorney's fees provision contained within the agreement.

RCW 4.84.330 provides, in pertinent part, as follows:

In any action on a contract . . . where such contract . . . specifically provides that attorney's fees and costs . . . shall be awarded to one of the parties, the prevailing party . . . shall be entitled to reasonable attorney's fees

#### RCW §4.84.330.

Attorney's fees are awardable under the statute on non-contract claims if the contract was central to the existence of the non-contract claims. Deep Water Brewing LLC v. Fairway Resources Ltd., 152 Wn. App. 229, 278, 215 P.3d 990 (2009) ("The court may award attorney fees for claims other than breach of contract when the contract is central to the existence of the claims, i.e., when the dispute actually arose from the agreements."); Brown v. Johnson, 109 Wn. App. 56, 58, 34 P.3d 1233 (2001) ("If an action in tort is based on a contract containing an attorney fee provision, the prevailing party is entitled to attorney fees." Footnotes omitted.); Edmonds v. John L. Scott Real Estate, Inc., 87 Wn. App. 834, 855-6, 942 P.2d 1072 (1997) ("The negligence claims were based upon [defendants'] . . . breach of duty

to act with due diligence in negotiating the purchase of the property on terms acceptable to . . . Edmonds. This duty was created under, and defined by, the buyer/broker agreement. . . . Therefore . . . the contractual relationship created by the agreement are central to these claims, rendering the claims 'on a contract.'"); Western Stud Welding, Inc. v. Omak Industries, Inc., 43 Wn. App. 293, 299, 716 P.2d 959 (1986) ("The lawsuit included causes of action for tortious interference with a contractual relationship and for breach of fiduciary duty, both of which have no relationship to the stock purchase and sale agreement." "The lawsuit arose out of the stock sale agreement. The broad interpretation of the 'on the contract' language of RCW 4.84.330 dictates the result that Quall is entitled to attorney's fees accrued in defending this lawsuit."). See also Eastwood v. Horse Harbor Foundation, Inc., 170 Wn.2d 380, 401-2, 241 P.3d 1256 (2010) (attorney's fees awarded pursuant to RCW 4.84.330 on tort claims arising out of lease).

The duties plaintiffs asserted Marx/Okubo breached were created by Marx/Okubo's contract with Evans Development. Without the contract there could be no tort claims against Marx/Okubo. It is beyond dispute that plaintiffs' claims arose out of Marx/Okubo's contract with Evans Development. Therefore, plaintiffs' claims were "on the contract." Based upon the cited authority, RCW 4.84.330

provides a recognized ground for an award of attorney's fees to Marx/Okubo, and the trial court erred when it denied Marx/Okubo's motion for an award of fees.

### 2. Marx/Okubo is entitled to attorney's fees under the doctrine of equitable estoppel.

The doctrine of equitable estoppel prevents a party from taking a position inconsistent with one previously asserted in litigation. Plaintiffs relied upon warranty provisions included in Marx/Okubo's contract with Evans Development to support their claims against Marx/Okubo. Equity requires plaintiffs be estopped from arguing the prevailing party attorney's fee provision in the contract containing the warranties is inapplicable to plaintiffs' claims.

Plaintiffs relied upon standard of care warranties contained in Marx/Okubo's contract with Evans Development to support their claims against Marx/Okubo (CP \_\_\_\_\_.³ "... Okubo warranted that it would not be negligent in carrying out the work in its proposal."). Equity requires that plaintiffs be estopped from attempting to avoid the prevailing party attorney's fee burden the contract imposes.

The recent supreme court decision in <u>Townsend v. Quadrant</u> <u>Corp.</u>, 173 Wn.2d 451, 268 P.3d 917 (2012), is controlling. The case

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Opposition to Marx/Okubo's Plaintiffs' [sic] Motion [for] Summary Judgment was included in the Clerk's Papers by supplemental Designation of Clerk's Papers filed on June 1, 2012. Clerk's Papers page numbers have not yet been assigned to the document. The cited reference is to page 5 of the document.

involved a contractual arbitration clause rather than a contractual attorney's fees provision; however, the facts are otherwise analogous to those presented here. In <u>Townsend</u>, as in this case, nonparty plaintiffs sought to enforce warranties arising out of a contract. The <u>Townsend</u> court applied the doctrine of equitable estoppel to enforce an arbitration clause in the purchase and sale agreement against the nonparties to the agreement who sought the benefit of warranties contained in the agreement. The court reasoned as follows:

As a general rule, nonsignatories are not bound by arbitration clauses... However, courts have recognized limited exceptions to this rule, including the principle of equitable estoppel.... Equitable estoppel "'precludes a party from claiming the benefits of a contract while simultaneously attempting to avoid the burdens that contract imposes.'" In this regard, equitable estoppel may require a nonsignatory to arbitrate a claim if the person, despite never having signed the agreement, "'knowingly exploits the contract in which the agreement is contained.'"

<u>Id.</u> at 460-1. Our supreme court found that, because the nonparties were "attempting to enforce the terms of the PSA and . . . they base their claim for breach of warranty on the warranties contained therein," they were "knowingly exploiting the terms of the contract" and therefore bound by the arbitration provisions of the agreement. Id.

No reason exists to distinguish an arbitration provision from an attorney's fee provision for purposes of applying the doctrine of equitable estoppel. Plaintiffs' claims against Marx/Okubo arose out of services performed by Marx/Okubo under its contract with Evans Development. Plaintiffs sought to avail themselves of warranties and duties Marx/Okubo owed to Evans Development under the agreement. Plaintiffs sought to "knowingly exploit" the standard of care warranty contained in Marx/Okubo's services agreement by premising their claims on the warranty provision contained in the agreement. Without the services agreement, plaintiffs would have no basis for pursuing claims against Marx/Okubo. Plaintiffs' claims against Marx/ Okubo were premised upon duties and warranties created by the Evans Development-Marx/Okubo agreement; plaintiffs should be equitably estopped from denying application of the contractual attorney's fee provision contained in that agreement. Under the doctrine of equitable estoppel, Marx/Okubo is entitled to an award of attorney's fees pursuant to the attorney's fees provision contained in its contract with Evans Development.

#### 3. Conclusion.

The duties undertaken by Marx/Okubo upon which plaintiffs' claims were premised arose solely out of Marx/Okubo's contract with Evans Development. The contract was central to the existence of plaintiffs' non-contract claims. Furthermore, plaintiffs explicitly

sought to enforce standard of care warranties contained in Marx/ Okubo's agreement with Evans Development. On the facts presented, plaintiffs' lawsuit was "an action on a contract" under RCW §4.84.330, and Marx/Okubo is entitled to recover its fees under the prevailing party attorney's fees provision contained in the contract. Alternatively, equity requires that plaintiffs be estopped from denying applicability of the attorney's fees provision contained in the contract that was the source of the warranties they sought to enforce.

Marx/Okubo advised plaintiffs' counsel before plaintiffs filed their Third Amended Complaint that it intended to seek an award of fees under RCW §4.84.330. (CP 483-4) ("Because the duties underlying plaintiffs' claims arose out of Marx/Okubo's contract with A.F. Evans, Marx/Okubo will be entitled to an award of attorney fees under RCW §4.84.330 if plaintiffs' claims fail.") Therefore, plaintiffs were fully aware of the risk of an attorney's fee award if they pursued their claims against Marx/Okubo. Plaintiffs proceeded and failed. They should be required to pay Marx/Okubo's attorney's fees.

# B. A Number of Plaintiffs Knowingly Asserted Factually Unsupported Claims Against Marx/Okubo. Those Plaintiffs Should Have Been Sanctioned Pursuant to Civil Rule 11.