68127-3

68127-3

THE COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION I OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON NO. 68127-3-1

MADERA WEST CONDOMINIUM OWNERS ASSOCIATION, et al.,

Appellants,

٧.

MARX/OKUBO, LTD., a Washington corporation,

Respondent

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT MARX/OKUBO, LTD.

Kenneth G. Yalowitz, WSBA 12017 Amber L. Hardwick, WSBA 41828 Natalya P. Markovich, WSBA 43099 Attorneys for Respondent Marx/Okubo, Ltd.

GREEN & YALOWITZ, PLLC 1420 Fifth Avenue, Ste. 2010 Seattle, WA 98101-4087 206-622-1400 206-583-2707 (fax) kgy@gyseattle.com

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

Both the Reserve Study and Condition Assessment stated they were prepared for use by Evans Development. The Condition Assessment expressly limited use of the report "to the client to whom it is

¹⁰ In fact Evans Development did not purchase the complex, it was purchased by a separate entity, A.F. Evans Company. (CP 1688)

addressed." (CP 777) Although the Reserve Study referenced a homeowners association, it did not reference the Madera West Homeowners Association, nor any unit owner. In fact, the Reserve Study indicated its purpose was to "report our findings to the Client to whom the report is addressed" and cautioned that it was based upon "verbal representations made to us, the accuracy of which is unknown." (CP 800)

Marx/Okubo clearly and unequivocally prohibited its client from distributing either report to third parties. (CP 766) The undisputed facts do not establish a special relationship between Marx/Okubo and claimants.

The facts in <u>Burg v. Shannon & Wilson</u>, <u>supra</u>, are analogous to those presented here. Shannon & Wilson recommended remedial measures to its client to increase the stability of the client's property. After landslides occurred several downhill neighbors sued Shannon & Wilson asserting it owed a duty to warn them of the instability of its client's property. The trial court found no special relationship existed between Shannon & Wilson and the neighbors and therefore no duty was owed by Shannon & Wilson. This Court affirmed. <u>Burg</u>, 110 Wn. App. at 811.

Claimants seek to distinguish <u>Burg</u> by arguing they had a relationship with Marx/Okubo that did not exist in <u>Burg</u>. The argu-

ment is unsupported by fact. First, claimants presented no evidence of any "relationship" between them and Marx/Okubo. Although Marx/Okubo's Reserve Study referenced a homeowners' association, it did not reference the Madera West Homeowners Association, any unit owner, or even the Madera West Condominiums. Second, claimants incorrectly argue "no evidence of any relationship whatsoever" existed between the damaged owners and the engineer in Burg. Brief of Appellant at 16. In fact, Burg had a direct contractual relationship with defendant Shannon & Wilson, which predated Shannon & Wilson's final report to the City by seven days. Burg, 110 Wn. App. at 810 ("Burg hired S & W on June 21, 1996."). The Burg court found Shannon & Wilson's contract to perform separate services with respect to the stability of Burg's property did not create a special relationship requiring it to disclose advice given to an uphill property owner. Id. ("Therefore, S & W owed no additional duty to the Burgs under their contract to notify them of future instability or recommendations."). See also Taliesen Corp. v. Razore Land Co., 135 Wn. App. 106, 130, 144 P.3d 1185 (2006) (Although a geotechnical engineer subsequently contracted with plaintiff, this Court found no special relationship existed that would rise to a duty to disclose environmental contaminants identified for a prior client.).

Special relationship analysis is generally found in cases applying the public duty doctrine. In such cases a special relationship can arise where there is direct contact between the parties and there are express assurances made that give rise to justifiable reliance on the assurances by plaintiffs. See Babcock v. Mason County Fire Dist. No. 6, 144 Wn.2d 774, 786, 30 P.3d 1261 (2001). No evidence of any direct contact between claimants and Marx/Okubo has been presented. There is no evidence Marx/Okubo made any assurances to claimants.

Both the Marx/Okubo Property Condition Assessment and Reserve Study made clear they were prepared for the exclusive use of Evans Development. There is no evidence Marx/Okubo induced justifiable reliance it would use care to protect <u>claimants</u>. Claimants have failed to offer facts that might establish a special relationship between them and Marx/Okubo.

4. Dismissal of claimants' claims was proper.

Based upon the undisputed facts before the Court, and the cited authority, by performing an existing building assessment and preparing reports to its client, Evans Development, Marx/Okubo did not undertake independent tort duties to strangers. Claimants and Marx/Okubo were strangers at the time Marx/Okubo performed its services. None of the elements necessary to impose a duty of care

toward a stranger have been demonstrated by claimants. Therefore Marx/Okubo owed no duty to claimants and the trial court properly granted Marx/Okubo summary judgment.

C. The Trial Court Properly Denied Claimants' Motion Where the Association Lacked Standing to Bring Independent Negligence Claims Against Marx/ Okubo.

Claimants' Third Assignment of Error addresses the trial court's denial of claimants' motion for summary judgment. When reviewing a denial of summary judgment, appellate courts engage in the same inquiry as the trial courts. <u>Babcock</u>, <u>supra</u>, 114 Wn.2d at 784.

On November 11, 2011, claimants moved for summary judgment, in part, to establish the Association's independent standing to assert negligent misrepresentation and professional negligence claims. (CP 1094) After the trial court denied claimants' motion, the Association moved for reconsideration, stating:

The Association . . . has standing to bring a claim on its own behalf where it has complete ownership of the reserve account that is underfunded as a consequence of Okubo's gross under-estimation of the amount it would cost to repair Madera.

(CP 1652) The trial court denied the motion for reconsideration. (CP 1667) The Association now appeals. After viewing the facts and inferences in the light most favorable to Marx/Okubo, the trial court's ruling must be affirmed. <u>Babcock</u>, 114 Wn.2d at 784.

The doctrine of standing prevents a party from asserting another person's legal right. <u>Timberlane Homeowners Ass'n, Inc. v. Brame</u>, 79 Wn. App. 303, 307, 901 P.2d 1074 (1995); and see, <u>Stuart v. Coldwell Banker Commercial Group, Inc.</u>, 109 Wn.2d 406, 414, 745 P.2d 1284 (1987) ("The rights being asserted, and the claims being made, belong to the individual homeowners.").

The Association contends RCW 64.34.304(1)(d) gives it standing independent of homeowners to sue for defects in the common elements of Madera West. The issue of whether RCW 64.34.304(1)(d) gives an association standing independent of its members was resolved by the Washington Supreme Court in Satomi, LLC, 167 Wn.2d 781, 225 P.3d 213 (2009).

In <u>Satomi</u>, the homeowners' association – represented by the same counsel as claimants in this appeal – attempted to bring construction defect claims on behalf of the association and individual unit owners for damage to condominium units, common elements and limited common elements. <u>Id.</u> at 812. The association claimed that it was a separate legal entity with claims independent of unit owners. <u>Id.</u> at fn. 24, citing RCW 64.34.304(1)(d). The court found the property identified in the association's complaint was "owned by the unit owners, not Blakeley Association." <u>Id.</u> The court held the association lacked standing to bring claims on its own behalf because it "has not

alleged damage to any property in which it has a protectable interest."

Id. at 812. "Thus, the claims against Blakeley Village are brought solely in a representative capacity by Blakeley Association on behalf of its members who own the allegedly damaged property." Id.

As in <u>Satomi</u>, the property damage at issue is to the "common elements" which are owned by the unit owners, not the Association. <u>Satomi</u>, 167 Wn.2d at 812. The Association and individual unit owners asserted identical claims. (CP 714-5) The only property identified in those claims were common elements including, "water intrusion into and through the building envelope; exterior and interior building surfaces have deteriorated prematurely; interior components have been structurally compromised and the property's useful safe-life is shortened" (CP 710) These common elements belong to unit owners, therefore the Association lacks standing to bring the claims on its own behalf. Satomi, 167 Wn.2d at 812.

In an effort to avoid the result of <u>Satomi</u>, the Association alleges a property interest in the reserve account. However, the Association's right with respect to the reserve account is limited to administrative functions for the benefit of individual unit owners. RCW 64.34.304(1)(p) ("Establish and <u>administer</u> a reserve account as described in RCW 64.34.380." Emphasis added.); RCW 64.34.380 (an association may "establish a reserve account to fund major main-

tenance, repair, and replacement of <u>common elements</u> . . ." Emphasis added.). The Association receives no benefit from administering the reserve account. RCW 64.34.356 (requiring the Association to return or credit any surplus remaining in the reserve account).

The Association's alleged interest in the reserve account is not sufficient to give the Association independent standing to sue Marx/ Okubo. <u>Timberlane</u>, 79 Wn. App. at 308-309 (The association lacked standing absent "a present, substantial interest, as distinguished from a mere expectancy, or future, contingent interest" and "a benefit will accrue it by the relief granted."). <u>See</u>, <u>Satomi Owners Ass'n v. Satomi, LLC</u>, 139 Wn. App. 175, 180, 159 P.3d 460 (Div. 1, 2007) cited with approval by <u>Satomi</u>, <u>supra</u>, 167 Wn.2d at 812.

The Association cannot establish that its interest in the reserve account is more than a "mere expectancy, or future, contingent interest" and that a benefit will accrue to the <u>Association</u> by relief granted. <u>Timberlane</u>, 79 Wn. App. at 309. The Association's interest in the reserve account, if any, is a future interest, contingent upon unit owner ability and willingness to make deposits. Further, the Association's interest is not substantial where it is limited to administering the reserve account. The Association will receive no benefit from relief granted for damage to the reserve account because all funds in the reserve account must be used for the benefit of the common

elements. RCW 64.34.380. Claims for damage to common elements belong to unit owners. Therefore, any benefit accrues to the unit owners, not the Association.

The Association contends that, notwithstanding <u>Satomi</u>, it has an independent professional negligence claim for damage to the common elements citing the "property interest" analysis in <u>Affiliated</u>, <u>supra</u>, 170 Wn.2d 442. However, <u>Affiliated</u> does not establish standing. In <u>Affiliated</u>, the lead opinion, joined by one Justice, extended the engineers' duty of care to SMS because SMS had an existing "property interest to use and occupy the property," stating:

In this case, . . . [i]t is plain that the City granted to SMS "the concession right and privilege to maintain and exclusively operate the Monorail System including the facilities, personal property and equipment, together with the right to use and occupy the areas, described in this section." These are property interests in using and possessing the Seattle Monorail, and thus SMS was within the scope of LTK's duty of care.

<u>Id.</u> at 458-459. Emphasis in original; citation omitted.

Unlike the existing property interest at issue in Affiliated, supra, the Association did not hold any property interest at the time Marx/Okubo performed services. Marx/Okubo prepared its reports on April 21, 2005 and May 13, 2005. The Association was not formed by Madera West, LLC until July 15, 2005. (CP 916-9) Marx/Okubo could not damage an entity that did not exist.

Further, the only interest the Association possesses is the right to maintain the Project's common elements and to "establish and administer a reserve account." RCW 64.34.304(1)(f); RCW 64.34.304(1)(p). Emphasis added. (CP 1093) The Association's alleged right to "acquire, hold, encumber and convey in its own name" or "grant easements" is misleading because the Association's right is expressly subject to the approval of all affected unit owners. See, RCW 64.34.348, referenced in RCW 64.34.304(1)(h). The Association's interest falls short of Affiliated's concessionaire's interest to "use and occupy" the property. Therefore, the Association lacks independent standing to assert claims for damage against Marx/Okubo and the trial court's ruling must be upheld.

D. The Trial Court Properly Denied Claimants' Motion to Strike the Expert Testimony of Randy Hart.

A trial court's decision to admit or exclude expert testimony is reviewed for abuse of discretion. Stevens v. Gordon, 118 Wn. App. 43, 51, 74 P.3d 653 (2003). The decision to admit expert testimony will not be disturbed on appeal "except on a clear showing of abuse of discretion, that is, discretion manifestly unreasonable, or exercised on untenable grounds, or for untenable reasons." Lancaster v. Perry, 127 Wn. App. 826, 830, 113 P.3d 1 (2005) (internal citations and quotations omitted).

On November 10, 2011, claimants filed a motion for partial summary judgment against Marx/Okubo. Claimants' motion argued, without support, that Marx/Okubo committed professional negligence. (CP 1090) In opposition to that contention, Marx/Okubo submitted, among other things, the Declaration of Randy Hart in Support of Marx/Okubo's Opposition. (CP 1288) Mr. Hart is an architect who specializes in building enclosure design and forensic architecture. Id. at ¶2. He reviewed the prior property owner's business records and compared the siding descriptions contained in the 1996 and 2005 Marx/Okubo reports and concluded it was likely that the siding identified as "damaged" in the 1996 report had been repaired prior to Marx/Okubo's 2005 site visit. (CP 1289 at ¶7)

Claimants moved to strike the following underlined portions of paragraphs 6 and 7 from Mr. Hart's declaration:

- 6. Marx/Okubo recommended the property owner, Richard H. Senn, replace the damaged siding using other siding products. Marx/Okubo specifically recommended that property owners contact Cedar-King Lumber Company for siding samples.
- 7. My review of the Complex's records from the 1990's suggests that the property owner at the time replaced the damaged LP-Siding. In the Spring of 1997, Mr. Senn obtained bids from Cedar-King Lumber Company to replace LP-Siding with various siding products including Vytek vinyl siding or new LP-Siding. Attached, as **Exhibit A**, is a copy of Cedar-King Lumber Company's bids to replace the siding at the Apartments, dated February 21, 1997 and March 18, 1997.

(CP 1571-2) The trial court denied claimants' motion to strike. (CP 1643-4)

Claimants contend the testimony in paragraphs 6 and 7 was inadmissible under the Evidence Rules. However, Mr. Hart's testimony falls within exceptions to Evidence Rules, therefore the trial court properly denied claimants' motion to strike.

Claimants asked the trial court to exclude Mr. Hart's testimony under ER 701. Evidence Rule 701 is inapplicable. By its terms, ER 701 only applies to lay witnesses. ER 701 ("If the witness is <u>not</u> testifying as an expert, the witness' testimony in the form of opinions or inferences is limited. . . ."). Randy Hart testified as an expert. (CP 1288 at ¶¶ 2, 3 and 17) Evidence Rule 701 does not preclude Mr. Hart's expert testimony.

Claimants argued the trial court must exclude the testimony under ER 602. Evidence Rule 602, requiring personal knowledge, is explicitly "subject to the provisions of rule 703, relating to opinion testimony by expert witnesses." ER 602. Evidence Rule 703 allows an expert to base opinions on evidence made known to the expert at or before the hearing without regard for the admissibility of the evidence. Mr. Hart testified that he based his opinions on Marx/Okubo's 1996 Report and other records produced in discovery. (CP 1289 at ¶3; CP 1604 at ¶¶ 5 and 7) Mr. Hart identified the pertinent

facts he relied upon from the 1996 Report and from the business records of Mr. Senn. These facts support Mr. Hart's opinion set forth in paragraph 17. (CP 1292) Claimants' unsupported contention that no reasonable expert would rely on these records is without merit. Under ER 602 and 703, paragraphs 6 and 7 are admissible as the bases of Mr. Hart's opinion testimony.

Claimants argue that paragraphs 6 and 7 contain inadmissible hearsay. In Washington, "[e]xpert opinion may rely on hearsay." Sunbreaker Condominium Ass'n v. Travelers Ins. Co., 79 Wn. App. 368, 374, 901 P.2d 1079 (1995). Mr. Hart's testimony was not offered to prove the truth of the matters asserted and therefore is not hearsay. ER 801(c). Paragraphs 6 and 7 were offered to explain the bases of Mr. Hart's opinions. The evidence is admissible under ER 703 and ER 705. Further, the documents relied on by Mr. Hart's testimony fall within the hearsay exceptions. Claimants argue, for the first time on appeal, the siding bid attached to Mr. Hart's declaration should have been excluded as hearsay. Under ER 803(6), business records maintained in the regular course of business constitute an exception to the hearsay rule. RCW 5.45.020. In paragraph 6, Mr. Hart refers to a 1996 Report which was produced from Marx/Okubo's business records and Claimants attached a copy to their motion for partial summary judgment. (CP 1106) In paragraph 7, Mr. Hart refers

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